1967

## Wendell Ray Newton v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a criminal proceeding in which the defendant, along with a co-defendant, Sherill Chesnut, was charged with the crime of robbery in violation of Utah Code Annotated Section 76-51-1 (1953). By information signed by David Bunnell, District Attorney, Grand County, Utah.

DISPOSITION BY LOWER COURT

Appellant Lindell Ray Newton, and co-defendant, Sherill Chesnut, were tried before a jury on April 22, 1966, before the Honorable A. H. Ellett, then a judge of the Third Judicial District Court, sitting by invitation in the Seventh Judicial District. Both defendants were found guilty by the jury by verdicts signed April 23, 1966, of the crime of robbery as charged in the information. Defendant Newton was recommended for leniency by the jury; Newton was sentenced to a term of five years to life at Utah State Prison.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant Newton seeks a New Trial de novo.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State of Utah produced the testimony of Leonard Jewkes, and William J. Himes Jr., both of the Utah Highway Patrol (Tr 99 - 130). Trooper Jewkes testified that on the evening of October 8th 1965, he and Trooper Himes were patrolling Interstate 70 near Crescent Junction. The Officers observed an automobile, traveling in the opposite direction, which failed to turn on its lights for a car immediately in front of the patrol car (Tr 100). The patrol car turned and followed the car and observed it at a speed of 88 miles an hour, the speed limit being 70 miles per hour (Tr 101). And the driver of the automobile was identified as Sherill Chesnut, co-defendant in the case at bar (Tr 101-102). The Officers administered a field test for determining whether or not the driver was driving under the influence of alcohol, as alcohol was smelled on the drivers breath (Tr 102). At this time Officer Himes searched the interior of the car without a search warrant; and your appellant Lindell Newton, who had been sleeping in the back seat awoke; (Tr 103). In addition the trunk of the car was searched and the Officers found three six-packs of beer and an Air Force overnight bag. Defendants were placed under arrest pursuant to the illegal search and seizure. Appellant was asked for the registration for the automobile he informed Officers that the car had Texas license. Under Texas Law there were no registration required thus he was arrested at this time for a non-existent crime (FAILURE TO REGISTER IN HIS AUTOMOBILE). Defendant Chesnut went back to the car and got another .25 calibre Revolver, pointed it at the Officers and demanded that they raise their hands (Tr 137-138). Defendant-Appellant Newton relieved the Officers of their sidearms (Tr 108). When the Officers had walked to and stood a fence as directed defendant Chesnut took the wallet of Trooper Jewkes, (Tr 110). Said action would never have been committed had officers adhered to statutory and constitutional provisions regarding search and seizure of their personal belongings rendering them under a mental stress from such unjust treatment.

The defendants fled the scene in their automobile after a transfer of vehicles and taking shelter in a truck were apprehended by the police (Tr 172).

The instant case at bar was first tried in the News-  
via Salt Lake Tribune and the Deseret News, Oct 9th, 10th  
11th, 1965. Said Newspaper articles assuming defendants to  
guilty, before they had been tried; rendering a fair and im-  
partial trial to be impossible; consequently subjecting your  
Appellant to Trial by Ordeal through unjust publicity.

Appellant Lindell Ray Newton, was denied equal pro-  
cess and due process of law through the courts denial of  
a fair trial motioned for by Appellants Attorneys, Hatch &  
Sons, December 7, 1965. Subsequently denying Appellant an  
equal witness in his behalf; (Witness co-defendant Chesnut).

Trial Court refused to instruct the jury as to the  
offenses of simple assault, and obstruction of a public  
officer in the performance of his duty. See defendants requested  
instructions; 3,4, and 5. Exceptions to the Courts failure to  
give these instructions (Tr 205-206), and after the jury had  
heard further exceptions were taken by both defendants with  
respect to the Courts failure to give instructions on these  
or included offenses.

Trial Court showed extreme prejudice in the instant  
case that under Utah Statutes a Union of Act and intent must  
be to constitute a criminal offense; The trial Court denied  
instructions that in the case at bar were essential in order  
for your Appellant receive a fair and impartial trial. See  
requested instructions 1 through 7). Tr 204-205-206).

### ARGUMENT POINT I

APPELLANT SUBMITS THAT HE WAS SUBJECTED TO TRIAL  
BY ORDEAL THROUGH UNFAIR NEWSPAPER PUBLICITY, DEPRIVING  
APPELLANT OF EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS OF LAW, AND  
THE PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE, OR FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL.

Appellant submits that articles printed in the  
Salt Lake Tribune and the Deseret News Oct 9th 10th and 11th  
were so prejudicial as to render it impossible for your  
Appellant to be afforded the presumption of innocence provided  
by statutory provisions, and subsequently denying Appellant  
equal protection and due process of law, or in substance a fair  
and impartial trial.

Such prejudicial publicity is prohibited under authority.

"To try a defendant in a community that has been exposed to publicity highly adverse to the defendant is PER SE GROUNDS FOR REVERSAL".

Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 351-352.

Mideau v. Louisiana, 373 U.S. 723, 727.

Estes v. Texas, 381 U. S. 532 (1965).

Marshall v. United States, 360 U. S. 310 (1959).

Appellant submits that in the instant case members of the public were admitted to reading of the case in the newspaper and it was assumed in view of such prejudicial articles in the Lake Tribune and Beseret News, October 9th 10th and 11th that opinions were already formed by members of the trial jury making an impartial decision impossible, consequently a New Trial and Reversal is required regarding Point I.

## POINT II

TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE THE DEFENDANTS REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS ON LESSOR OR INCLUDED OFFENSES.

It is submitted by Appellant Newton that the trial court was prejudicially in failing to give the requested instructions with respect to the Crime of Assault.

The evidence given by the Highway Patrolman were believed in this case, it seems clear that there was sufficient evidence to support a charge of simple assault, or assault with a deadly weapon as defined in Utah Code Annotated 76-7-1 and 76-7-6, respectively as has been stated by this court in State v. Barkan, 574, 65 P. 2d 1130 (1937).

"It is too elemental to require argument, that to point a loaded revolver at another to frighten or wound constitutes an assault; and that shooting at another at him, is with the intent to do bodily harm, unless the things were done under conditions and circumstances which justified the acts in the eyes of the law."

The starting point for further analysis must be Code Annotated, Section 77-33-6 (1953).

"The jury may find the defendant guilty of any offense, the commission of which is necessarily included in the offense with which he is charged in the indictment or information or the attempt to commit the offense".

The next question then is whether assault, or assault with a deadly weapon are included offenses within the offense of robbery as defined in Utah Code Annotated, Section 76-7-1 (1953). There are cases which have held that assault with a deadly weapon may be included within the charge of robbery, see, People v. Driscoll, 128 P. 2d 382 (Dist. Ct. Appl., 1942). This however, would seem somewhat questionable, although as robbery, as defined, need not take place with a deadly weapon, rather, it is only required that personal property be taken from the possession of another "against his will", "accomplished by means of force or fear". One can imagine instances in which this could be accomplished without the use of a deadly weapon. However, the case law seems clear to the effect that a simple assault is included within the offense of robbery. See People v. Foss, 259 Pac. 123 (Dist. Ct. App., Cal. 1927), where the court pointed out;

": it follows that the offense of simple assault is also included within robbery, and the court erred in refusing to give instructions requesting on this point".

Additional support for this proposition is contained in People v. Vance, 39 Utah 602, 119 Pac. 309, (1911)., where the court pointed out:

"We think that all of the authorities agree that where violence is a necessary ingredient in committing the offense, and is contained in the charge of murder, then the lesser offense namely an assault, with intent to murder, is necessarily included in the principle charge, that of murder."

It follows, that since the use of force or fear is an element of the crime of robbery that a simple assault is a necessarily included offense since it is an unlawful attempt accompanied with a present ability to commit a violent injury on the person of another". Utah Code Annotated, Section 76-7-1 (1953).

This background plus the fact that it is undisputed record that a request for an instruction on simple assault made on behalf of Appellant and refused by the Trial Court, poses the interesting questions under the law of Utah as to whether this constituted error, and if so, whether it was judicial?

As an initial proposition several Utah Cases must be distinguished since they deal with the situation where the defendant did not request an instruction on an included case offered. Although an instance this court has held on several occasions that the defendant cannot normally be heard to complain on appeal. See State v. Sullivan, 73 Utah 582, 276 Pac. Rep 166 (1929). See State v. Ferguson, 74 Utah 279 Pac. 55 (1929). However since there are some Utah cases which charge the trial court with the responsibility of instructing the jury on included offenses even though no request is made therefore by the defendant. See State v. Cobo, 90 Utah 89, 60 P. 2d 952 (1936).

The instant case, of necessity, is a much stronger one than these inasmuch as there was a request for the instructions which was denied by the trial court. A case of significance in this regard is State v. Mitchell, 3 U. 2d 70, 278 P. 2d 618 (1956). The question on Appeal in that case was whether the trial court was in failing to instruct on voluntary manslaughter in a first-degree murder case. There was no request for such an instruction at the trial level. After holding that voluntary manslaughter is necessarily included in first-degree murder, the court, in a now holding, stated that failure to give the instruction was within the trial courts' discretion specifically "where instructions are not requested and not given". (Emphasis original). Of interest however is the concurring opinion of Justice Crockett wherein he stated:

"It is elementary that it is the duty of the court to present to the jury a statement of the elements of the offense charged; and that, where the accused is charged with a greater offense, he is nevertheless entitled to an instruction the jury may convict him of a lesser offense if included within the greater..."

In State v. Brennan, 13 U. 2d 195, 371 P. 2d 27 (1962). the state complained of the trial courts; failure to instruct on a lesser included offense of driving while intoxicated in a prosecution of reckless driving. The court concurred and in so doing stated:

"In view of the fact that evidence of intoxication recited above obviously would have been sufficient to prove a prima facie case of driving while intoxicated, we are unable to perceive why the trial court did not submit the case to the jury on that included offense. In refusing the states request to do so it committed error against the state".

Certainly the converse of this situation is true on the defendant also is entitled to instructions on lesser included offense and failure to do so when requested constitutes error on the part of the trial court.

State v. Ferguson, 74 Utah 263, 279 Pac. 55 (1929). As stated, is distinguishable inasmuch as no request was there made for instruction on the lesser offense. However, certain observations made by Justice Straup in his concurring opinion are of significance. His analysis of this general problem is one of the more thoroughgoing to be found on this subject. With considerable emphasis on the defendants right to a jury trial, regardless of the overwhelming nature of the evidence of his guilt, Justice Straup concludes that there is an almost absolute duty on the part of the trial court to instruct with regard to lesser offenses even where not requested. His reasoning is persuasive:

"Where therefore, the essentials of the charged greater offense embrace and include every essential of the lesser offense, and where the evidence is sufficient to support the charged greater offense, I think it follows as does night the day, that of necessity there is also sufficient evidence to support a conviction of the lesser offense. In such case I think it the duty of the court to submit to the jury the whole issue as presented by the indictment of information and not merely a part of it, and that the court so submit the cases as to compel or coerce the jury to find the accused guilty of the greater offense or find him not guilty, or so as to give the jury no alternative or discretion, except to do the one or the other. Where, under such conditions only the greater charged offense is submitted, jurors, or some of them having a reasonable doubt as to the existence of all the essential elements of the charged greater offense, are required or induced to find the accused not guilty".



When had the lesser offense also been submitted might convict him of the lesser offense, while on the other hand, a jury somewhat loath on the evidence to wholly acquit the accused may be induced or influenced to find him guilty of the greater offense; when if the lesser offense also is submitted may find him guilty only of that offense.

Thus, under the conditions stated I think it the duty of the court to submit both the greater and the lesser offense to the jury and to charge the principles of law applicable thereto, whether requested to do so or not. I see no basis for the assertion that the court is required to charge the jury the general principles of law applicable to the charged greater offense whether requested or not, but is not required to charge the general principles of law applicable to the charged lesser offense unless requested to do so."

In State v. Hyams, 64 Utah 285, 230 Pac. 349  
defense counsel at the trial requested that the court with regard to the crime of simple assault, the defendant having been charged with the greater offense of assault with intent to commit rape. The court, noting that it is not a reversible error to fail to give instructions on lesser offenses, continued:

"It is, however, always a delicate matter for a trial court to withhold from the jury the right to find the accused guilty of the lesser or included offense, and determine the question of the state of the evidence as a matter of law. That should be done only in very clear cases."

The court went on to hold that in that case a reversible error for the court to refuse to instruct as charged on a lesser included offense.

Likewise, in State v. Barker, 91 Utah 574, 65 1130 (1937) this court held that it was reversible error in prosecution of assault with intent to do bodily harm, to fail to instruct on the crime of simple assault.

In People v. Carmen, 220 P. 2d 281 (Cal, 1951) the court stated that regardless of how weak the evidence may be the lesser offense, the court has a duty to instruct concerning it. People v. Ross, 259 Pac. 123 (Cal. 1927) is not to point. The court there held that it was error to fail to instruct on assault in a prosecution for robbery.

The authorities seem to agree that the instructions the lesser included offense need only be given where there is at least some evidence which would support a conviction of the greater offense. This is in keeping with the general rule regarding instructions. However, it is difficult indeed to imagine a case where there is sufficient evidence to go to the jury with respect to the greater offense and yet no evidence to go to the jury with respect to a lesser and necessarily included offense. As stated by Justice Straup in State v. Ferguson, 1941:

"As a general rule there may be exceptions to it...where there is sufficient evidence to justify a conviction of the charged greater offense of necessity, there is also sufficient evidence to justify a conviction of the necessarily included lesser offense when all of the essentials of the lesser are embraced and included in the greater."

This is only consistent with the defendant's general right to a jury on each and every issue presented by the evidence. Following the reasoning of Justice Straup, we could not but conclude that regardless of how overwhelming the evidence is with respect to the guilt of a defendant on the greater offense charged, the jury may nonetheless, with absolute impunity, return a verdict on not guilty. In criminal cases there is no adequate remedy for the trial judge to in any way preempt the ultimate and conclusive power of the jury to determine guilt or innocence. If it is being so, it can be said in all cases that there is a possibility that the defendant will not be found guilty of the greater offense. To do justice to both the state and the defendant, therefore, it is important that the jury have before it all possible alternatives, including lesser included offenses. Justice Straup noted:

"If in a case of different degrees of the charged greater offense there is sufficient evidence to submit the case to the jury of the charged greater offense, I do not see wherein it is the prerogative of the court to direct the jury of what degree only the jury may find the defendant guilty, or to direct them

charged greater offense they must acquite him. To permit the court to do that is to be the judge of the facts. If the court for such purposes may so consider and waive the evidence and find the facts and thus so determine the degree, I see no reason why the court, in a case where the evidence is conclusively and indisputable shows the defendants guilt of the charged greater offense, where there is no rule or bias either in law or in fact for any doubt whatever may not equally direct a verdict of guilt. It is apparent that the court may not do either, for under the constitution and the statutes making the jury the sole judges of the facts they may render any kind of verdict with respect to any offense presented by and included within the indictment or information."

To further probe the prejudicial nature of a failure to instruct on lesser included offenses, it is only necessary to refer to elemental psychology. In a case such as the instant at bar, or in many criminal cases for that matter it may well be that the defendants have conducted themselves somewhat improperly, the natural response of the jury, faced with such a situation, would be to punish the accused. However, when an instruction is given only on the greater offense, with the sole alternative being acquittal, the natural tendency of the jury may be to find the defendant guilty even though he is not in fact guilty of the greater offense in all respects. Thus, the jury should be given the other indicated alternatives including lesser included offense. It may be properly surmised, giving full credit to our jurors, that if the evidence indeed warrants a conviction of the greater offense, the conviction will be forthcoming. However, corollary protection is found in the case where the evidence with regard to the greater offense is questionable or the subject of a reasonable doubt in which case the jury, if the elements are found, may convict of the lesser included offense. This benefits the state as well as the defendant.

The foregoing discussion is not confined to the academic. There are practical considerations in the instant case which will have been persuasive on the innocence of the appellant with respect to the crime of robbery.

This was not a case where the accused calculated and planned a bank robbery or a strong arm holdup on the street. Nor, the robbery, if indeed any there was, occurred as a result of precipitating actions on the part of the police officers. It might well have been argued at the trial that at the time of taking the patrolmans guns, the intent was not to deprive the owner of his possession thereof, on a permanent basis but merely to disarm the policemen.

It is respectfully submitted therefore that under Utah law the trial court erred prejudicially in failing to instruct the jury, as requested, on the crime of simple assault which is necessarily included in the greater offense of robbery.

Wherefore appellant submits he is entitled to Reversal and a New Trial, regarding Point II.

### POINT III

**TRIAL COURT SHOWED PREJUDICIAL ERROR ALLOWING EVIDENCE TO BE INTRODUCED RESULTING IN ILLEGAL ARREST: THROUGH ILLEGAL SEARCH AND SEIZURE.**

It is submitted that the entire judgment, conviction proceedings in every article or other stage of the proceedings against your Appellant, were unconstitutional and illegal in their entirety. Pursuant to Appellants arrest, in violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to United States Constitution, Appellant submits that had the arresting officers adhered to Constitutional provisions, regarding search and seizure, there would not have been a felonious crime of any kind committed;

"The right of the people to be secure in their persons, places and effects shall not be violated;"

"Such immunities provided under the Fourth Amendment, Bill of Rights, to United States Constitution, are basic and fundamental rights provided to the Citizens of the United States."

Under our set of laws there exists certain prerequisites to be adhered to by the dispensers of justice to the masses; to favor the accused; some favor the states; the authorities as stated herein were precedents set forth for the preservation of the Rights of an Accused;" The state will present its own.,

It is submitted that under decided precedent authorities, illegal Search and Seizure is prohibited. Every citizen of the United States is entitled to be secure in his person, places and effects. Deprivation of said immunity is denial of Equal Protection and Due Process of Law provided for the Fourteenth Amendment to United States Constitution, rather, a denial of immunities provided under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Mapp v. Ohio, Supra, at 659.

Boyd v. United States, 116 U. S. 616, 638.

Linkletter v. Walker, Certiorari, No. 95  
Oct., term (1964). United States Supreme Court.

Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U. S. 471 (1963).

Appellant submits that had the Court granted the motion to Suppress certain testimony and evidence obtained through illegal search and seizure, your appellant might in its possibly have been afforded a fair and impartial trial. It is submitted that the court showed prejudicial error in allowing any evidence or testimony to be introduced regarding illegal and unconstitutional arrest resulting through illegal search and seizure of articles from Appellants car subsequently causing the instant crime if the circumstances, could be considered a crime of robbery to occur.

#### POINT IV.

APPELLANT WAS DENIED EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS OF LAW, THROUGH THE COURTS DENIAL OF SEPARATE TRIALS, DEPRIVING HIM OF AN IMPORTANT AND ESSENTIAL WITNESS, SHERILL CHESNUT, Co-Defendant.)

It is submitted by Appellant that the denial of separate trials rendering it impossible or at the very least highly improbable, for appellant to Subpoena Co-Defendant, Sherill Chesnut, who's testimony was essential in that through his testimony, your appellant could have shown, that he had intent to commit a felony, or any other crime. Appellant submits that under provisions of Utah statutes, in order for a felony to be committed there must be a joint union of act and intent, to commit such crime. Utah Code Section 76-1-20.

It is further submitted that under the provisions of the United States Constitution and United States Constitution a defendant in a criminal matter is entitled to witnesses in his behalf.

Under the provisions of Utah Code Annotated (1953),  
Section 77-1-8 (5) to have process to compel the attendance of  
witnesses in his own behalf,