1967

State of Utah v. Lindell Ray Newton : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction and sentence for the crime of robbery.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The appellant was jointly tried with his co-defendant before a jury on April 22, 1966, before the Honorable A. H. Ellett, then one of the judges of the Third Judicial District, sitting by invitation in the Seventh Judicial District. Both defendants were found guilty by a jury verdict signed April 23, 1966, of the crime of robbery as charged in the information. Appellant was sentenced to be confined to the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate period of not

less than five years nor more than life, as provided by law.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent requests that the judgment of the trial court be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The key witnesses produced by the State at the trial were Leonard K. Jewkes and Williams J. Himes, Jr., both patrolmen with the Utah Highway Patrol (Tr. 99 and 130). Officer Jewkes testified that on the evening of October 8, 1965, he and officer Himes were partolling Interstate 70 near Crescent Junction. The officers observed an automobile traveling in the opposite direction, which failed to dim its lights for the car immediately in front of the patrol car (Tr. 100). The patrol car turned and followed the car and clocked it at a speed in excess of 88 miles per hour, 18 miles per hour in excess of the posted 70 miles per hour speed limit. The officers stopped the automobile (Tr. 101), and the driver was identified as Sherrill Chestnut, III (Tr. 101, 102). Officer Jewkes detected alcohol on Mr. Chestnut's breath and decided to administer a field test to determine whether the driver was driving under the influence of alcohol. Mr. Chestnut failed to hit his heel to his toe three times and officer Jewkes placed him under arrest for driving under the influence of alcohol (Tr. 102, 133). Thereafter officer Himes searched the interior of the car, and defendant Newton, who had

been sleeping in the back seat of the car, awoke (Tr. 103). In searching the automobile, officer Himes found a loaded revolver in the glove compartment. Defendant Chestnut stated that the gun belonged to him (Tr. 103). Officer Himes advised Mr. Chestnut that he would have to cite him for carrying a loaded fire arm in the automobile (Tr. 104). After finding that Mr. Chestnut had no registration papers or proof of ownership, radio contact was made with Price, Utah, to determine whether Chestnut was wanted for any previous crimes.. A subsequent check was made on defendant Newton (Tr. 105). While waiting for the response from Price, Utah, the officers decided to search the automobile for further evidence. The trunk of the car was searched and three six-packs of beer and an Air Force overnight bag containing punches, chissels, gloves, a hammer, and a glass cutter was found (Tr. 106). It was then that defendant Chestnut produced a pistol and ordered the officers to raise their hands (Tr. 107-138). Defendant Newton relieved the officers of their side arms (Tr. 108-138) and the officers were directed to go to a fence on the north side of the highway. At this point Mr. Newton fired a shot in front of officer Jewkes. (Tr. 110-140). When the troopers reached the fence Mr. Chestnut took officer Jewkes' wallet containing \$118.00 while defendant Newton held a gun on the officers (Tr. 110-111, 141). The officers were then handcuffed to a telephone pole (Tr. 113-114, 143).

The defendants fled in their automobile, and after taking refuge in a truck, were apprehended by the police (Tr. 172). When the defendants were

apprehended the officers' revolvers were still in their possession (Tr. 175). Officer Jewkes' wallet was found in the defendant's abandoned automobile with only \$8.00 missing. Officer Jewkes testified that the \$8.00 was located in the wallet, but that the \$10.00 bill was located among some folded papers and that the \$100.00 bill was located in a back pocket of the wallet (Tr. 117).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

- A. APPELLANT CANNOT RAISE THE ISSUE OF PRETRIAL PUBLICITY FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.
- B. THERE IS NO SHOWING THAT APPELLANT WAS IN ANY WAY PREJUDICED BY PRETRIAL PUBLICITY.

Appellant argues that he was deprived of a fair and impartial trial due to the publicity he received prior to the trial. Nowhere in the record does it appear that appellant moved for a change of venue or that appellant was overly concerned about local prejudices. It is submitted that appellant may not raise an issue on appeal that was not raised in the trial court. **Carson v. Douglas**, 12 Utah 2d 424, 367 P.2d 462 (1964); **Huber v. Deep Creek Irrigation Company**, 6 Utah 2d 15, 305 P.2d 478 (1956).

It is further submitted that there is no showing that appellant was prejudiced by pretrial publicity. It is well established that it is not a denial of due process to refuse to declare a mistrial where the

juror's who had read news articles concerning the alleged crime stated that they have not been influenced by the reports, **U. S. v. Kelly**, 349 F.2d 720 (C.A.N.Y. 1965), **cert. den.** 384 U. S. 947 (1966), and where cautionary instructions had been given. **U. S. v. Lombardo** 335 F.2d 414 (C.A.N.Y.) **cert. den.** 379 U. S. 914 (1964). In the instant case the trial court inquired of every prospective juror whether they knew something about this case and if they did, the, whether they had formed an opinion concerning the guilt of the defendants. Every juror indicated that no opinion had been formed by them and that they felt they could be objective about the issues.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY IN THE LESSER OFFENSE OF ASSAULT, SINCE THE ISSUE WAS NOT RAISED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The appellant contends that the trial court erred in refusing to give a requested instruction in the claimed lesser included offense of assault. The appellant had requested such an instruction and an exception was duly taken (Tr. 209).

It is well settled in this state that an instruction on a lesser included offense is not required, unless the evidence raises the issue for the jury's consideration. It is submitted that even assuming assault, as defined by Utah Code Ann. § 76-7-1 (1953), is a lesser included offense of robbery, the evidence in the instant case did not raise the issue or warrant the jury's consideration of an assault. Therefore, it was not

error for the trial court to refuse to instruct on the lesser offense of assault. **State v. Angle**, 61 Utah 432, 215 Pac. 531 (1923); **State v. Ferguson**, 74 Utah 263 279 Pac. 55 (1929); **State v. Mitchell**, 3 Utah 2d 70, 278 P.2d 618 (1955).

In **State v. Ferguson**, supra at 267, 279 Pac. 56, Justice Straup (concurring) noted:

I concur in the result. I concur in the general statement as announced in some of the texts and cases that when there is no evidence to support a conviction of a lesser offense, a court is not required to submit it to a jury, and concur in the statement in the prevailing opinion that instructions as to lower grades of a charged offense, when embraced and included therein, should be given when warranted by evidence.

In **State v. Mitchell**, supra, at 3 Utah 2d 76, 278 P.2d, Justice Crockett (concurring) stated:

I agree that under the circumstances of this case it was not prejudicial error for the court to fail to instruct on lesser included offenses. However, under some circumstances where the evidence would plainly indicate that the jury should properly consider lesser offenses, I think it might be error for the trial court not to instruct with respect to them, even if counsel made no request.

Certainly this is not support for appellant's proposition that it is the duty of the trial court to instruct the jury as to every lesser, included offense.

Most recently in **State v. Dodge**, 18 Utah 2d 63 at 64, 415 P.2d 212 at 213 (1967) where the defendant was apprehended inside a building while attempt-

ing to peel a safe, this court said of appellants' requested instruction on the lesser offense of unlawful entry:

The facts indisputably show he attempting to peel the safe. The jury would have been composed of unreasonable men had it even considered that the defendant had "unlawfully entered" for the altruistic "intent to damage property or to injure a person or annoy the peace and quiet of any occupant therein." The trial court also would have been an unreasonable person had he given such an instruction.

Respondent submits that it is not error for the trial court to refuse to instruct the jury as to lesser offenses included in the charge when the evidence shows that the defendants, if guilty at all are guilty of the offense charged. **People v. Ray**, 162 Cal. App.2d 308, 328 P.2d 219 (1958).

Since appellant concedes that the crime of robbery might occur without using a deadly weapon, it is apparent that assault with a deadly weapon is not a necessary included offense in the crime of robbery as assault with a deadly weapon requires proof of a separate fact not necessarily included in the crime of robbery and the lesser offense of assault is not embraced within the legal definition of robbery. See **State v. Rohletter**, 108 Utah 452, 160 P.2d 963 (1945).

Appellant argues that since it is the natural tendency of a jury to convict an accused who has conducted himself "somewhat improperly" where the jury is given the choice of either acquitting or

convicting, the trial court should instruct the jury in fenses.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-8 (1953) charges the court with the duty to pass sentence and impose the punishment prescribed. It is submitted that in allowing the jury to consider lesser included offenses when not warranted by the evidence, the jury would be invited to reach a compromise verdict, 53 Am. Jur. § 789 (1945) and it would have the effect of allowing the jury to determine the punishment of the accused. As it is not the function of the jury to determine punishment, the jury should not be given the power to convict of lesser offenses when not raised by the evidence.

It is further submitted that even if the officers were engaged in an unlawful arrest, appellant would not be excused or justified in committing robbery. See **Hardeman v. State**, 14 Ala. App. 35, 70 So. 979 (1916).

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING INTO EVIDENCE TESTIMONY CONCERNING BURGLAR TOOLS DISCOVERED AS THE RESULT OF A LAWFUL SEARCH.

It is submitted that the search of the automobile was a lawful search incident to arrest. When the car in which appellant was riding was stopped, a misdemeanor had been committed in the officers presence.

Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-46(2) (1960) provides that

the speed in excess of the limits shall be prima facie evidence that the speed is unlawful.

Since the driver of the automobile in which Mr. Newton was riding was traveling in excess of the posted speed limit, the above statute was violated. Utah Code Ann. § 41-1-17 (1960) expressly required officers Himes and Jewkes to stop the vehicle and in so doing effect the driver's arrest. Further, Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44 (1960) makes it a misdemeanor for a person under the influence of alcohol to drive or be in control of a vehicle within the state.

The restraint under these circumstances was a lawful one and the search made pursuant to the lawful arrest was legal. **United States v. Rabinowitz**, 339 U.S. 56 (1950).

It is submitted that the testimony concerning the search of the automobile and discovery of the bag containing punches, chissels, gloves, a hammer, and a glass cutter was part of the res gestae of the crime and the trial court had discretion to allow testimony concerning events leading up to robbery. See **Balle v. Smith** 81 Utah 179, 17 P.2d 224 (1932).

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SEPARATE TRIALS.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-31-6 (1953) provides:

When two or more defendants are jointly charged with any offense, whether felony or mis-

demeanor, they shall be tried jointly, unless the court in its discretion on the motion of the prosecuting attorney or any defendant orders separate trials,

This court has approved the above cited statute in **State v. Rivenburgh**, 11 Utah 2d 95, 355 P.2d 689 (1960) wherein it held that it is within the discretion of the court to order separate trials where two or more defendants are jointly charged with any offense.

It is well established that one aiding and abetting others in the commission of the crime of first degree robbery is guilty as a principal, regardless of the acts committed by him personally.

In **State v. Jones**, 45 Hawaii 246, 365 P.2d 460 (1961) the court held that where a person with knowledge of the unlawful intent of companions stood by with gun in hand and acquiesced while his companions committed robbery, he could be indicted and convicted as a principal.

It is submitted that where appellant held a gun on both officers while his companion robbed officer Jewkes of his wallet, his intent is clearly evidenced by his acts. No testimony of Sherrill Chestnut under this circumstance could establish that appellant did not intend to aid and abet his companion in robbery.

CONCLUSION

The appellant can not raise the issue of pretrial publicity for the first time on appeal.

As evidence did not raise the issue of lesser included offenses, and the trial court correctly refused to grant appellant's requested instruction thereon.

The search of the automobile in which appellant was riding was incident to a lawful arrest and therefore legal. The evidence so obtained was therefore legal and part of the res gestae of the crime and the testimony concerning the burglar tools was therefore admissible.

The trial court correctly denied appellants' motion for separate trials as no defense could be raised at separate trial which could not have been raised at a trial where defendants were tried together. Appellant has not demonstrated wherein he was prejudiced.

It is respectfully submitted that the judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.